CASE NO. 2008-KA-00409-SCT  
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

FERNANDO MARTINEZ PARKER  
APPELLANT /DEFENDANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI  
APPELLEE/PLAINTIFF

---

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF  
COAHOMA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

---

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

---

II.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE ONE

Defendant was provided with ineffective assistance of counsel at trial, as well as in pre-trial proceedings, in violation of the 6<sup>th</sup> Amendment to the United States Constitution.

ISSUE TWO:

The sentence imposed by the court of life without parole, pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §97-3-19(g) constitutes an illegal sentence where the jury failed to make a determination of the elements required to impose such sentence.

ISSUE THREE:

The trial court erred in refusing to grant the Appellant's motion for directed verdict of acquittal at the close of the state's case, in refusing to grant Appellant's requested peremptory instruction and denying Appellant's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict as such verdict was contrary to law.

Appellant Fernando Martinez Parker is presently incarcerated and being housed in the Mississippi Department of Corrections at the Mississippi State Penitentiary in Parchman, Mississippi. Appellant has been continuously confined, in regards to such sentences, since the date of conviction and imposition of said sentences by the trial court.

#### STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

#### IV.

Appellant suffered cumulative error which caused him to be deprived of his constitutional right to a fair trial in violation of the 5th and 14th Amendment to the United States Constitution.

#### ISSUE SIX:

Appellant was subjected to double jeopardy where the crime of possession of a firearm on school property, as contained in Count I of the indictment, was used as an underlying offense to enhance the murder, as contained in Count II of the indictment, to capital murder so as to subject Appellant to life without parole and where Appellant was subsequently convicted of same possession of a firearm on school property, as contained in Count I of the indictment, and sentenced to a separate sentence.

#### ISSUE FIVE:

The trial Court erred in failing to order a competency hearing

#### ISSUE FOUR:

## STATEMENT OF CASE

This case arises from the conviction of Fernando Martinez Parker under a three (3) count indictment charging possession of a firearm on school property<sup>1</sup>, murder<sup>2</sup>, and aggravated

<sup>1</sup> § 97-37-17. Weapons possession on educational property

(1) The following definitions apply to this section:

- (a) "Educational property" shall mean any public or private school building or bus, public or private school campus, grounds, recreational area, athletic field, or other property owned, used or operated by any local school board, school, college or university board of trustees, or directors for the administration of any public or private educational institution or during a school related activity; provided however, that the term "educational property" shall not include any sixteenth section school land or lieu land on which is not located a school building, school campus, recreational area or athletic field.
- (b) "Student" shall mean a person enrolled in a public or private school, college or university, or a person who has been suspended or expelled within the last five (5) years from a public or private school, college or university, whether the person is an adult or a minor.
- (c) "Switchblade knife" shall mean a knife containing a blade or blades which open automatically by the release of a spring or a similar contrivance.
- (d) "Weapon" shall mean any device enumerated in subsection (2) or (4) of this section.

- (2) It shall be a felony for any person to possess or carry, whether openly or concealed, any gun, rifle, pistol or other firearm of any kind, or any dynamite cartridge, bomb, grenade, mine or powerful explosive on educational property. However, this subsection does not apply to a BB gun, air rifle or air pistol. Any person violating this subsection shall be guilty of a felony and, upon conviction thereof, shall be fined not more than Five Thousand Dollars (\$5,000.00), or committed to the custody of the State Department of Corrections for not more than three (3) years, or both.
- (3) It shall be a felony for any person to cause, encourage or aid a minor who is less than eighteen (18) years old to possess or carry, whether openly or concealed, any gun, rifle, pistol or other firearm of any kind, or any dynamite cartridge, bomb, grenade, mine or powerful explosive on educational property. However, this subsection does not apply to a BB gun, air rifle or air pistol. Any person violating this subsection shall be guilty of a felony and, upon conviction thereof, shall be fined not more than Five Thousand Dollars (\$5,000.00), or committed to the custody of the State Department of Corrections for not more than three (3) years, or both.

- (4) It shall be a misdemeanor for any person to possess or carry, whether openly or concealed, any BB gun, air rifle, air pistol, bowie knife, dirk, dagger, slingshot, leaded cane, switchblade, knife, blackjack, metallic knuckles, razors and razor blades (except solely for personal shaving), and any sharp-pointed or edged instrument except instructional supplies, unaltered nail files and clips used solely for preparation of food, instruction and maintenance on educational property. Any person violating this subsection shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction thereof, shall be fined not more than One Thousand Dollars (\$1,000.00), or be imprisoned not exceeding six (6) months, or both.

- (5) It shall be a misdemeanor for any person to cause, encourage or aid a minor who is less than eighteen (18) years old to possess or carry, whether openly or concealed, any BB gun, air rifle, air pistol, bowie knife, dirk, dagger, slingshot, leaded cane, switchblade, knife, blackjack, metallic knuckles, razors and razor blades (except solely for personal shaving) and any sharp-pointed or edged instrument except instructional supplies, unaltered nail files and clips used solely for preparation of food, instruction and maintenance on educational property. Any person violating this subsection shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction thereof, shall be fined not more than One Thousand Dollars (\$1,000.00), or be imprisoned not exceeding six (6) months, or both.

- (6) It shall not be a violation of this section for any person to possess or carry, whether openly or concealed, any gun, rifle, pistol or other firearm of any kind on educational property if:

- (a) The person is not a student attending school on any educational property;



(a) A weapon used solely for educational or school-sanctioned ceremonial purposes, or used in a school-approved program conducted under the supervision of an adult whose supervision has been approved by the school authority;

(b) Armed forces personnel of the United States, officers and soldiers of the militia and National Guard, law enforcement personnel, any private police employed by an educational institution, State Militia or Emergency Management Corps and any guard or patrolman in a state or municipal institution, when acting in the discharge of their official duties;

(c) Home schools as defined in the compulsory school attendance law, Section 37-13-91;

(d) Competitors while participating in organized shooting events;

(8) All schools shall post in public view a copy of the provisions of this section.

(b)(7)(C)-3-7(2)(b)

(2) A person is guilty of aggravated assault if he (a) attempts to cause or purposely or knowingly causes bodily injury to another with a deadly weapon or other means likely to produce death or serious bodily harm; and, upon conviction, he shall be punished by imprisonment in the county jail for not more than one (1) year or in the Penitentiary for not more than twenty (20) years. Provided, however, a person convicted of aggravated assault (a) upon a statewide elected official, law enforcement officer, fireman, emergency medical personnel, public health personnel, social worker employed by the Department of Human Services or another agency, superintendent, principal, teacher or other instructional personnel, school attendance officer, school bus driver, or a judge of a circuit, chancery, county, justice or youth court or a judge of the Court of Appeals or a justice of the Supreme Court, district attorney, legal assistant to a district attorney, county prosecutor, municipal prosecutor, court reporter employed by a court, court administrator, clerk or deputy clerk of the court, or public defender, while such statewide elected official, judge or justice, law enforcement officer, fireman, emergency medical personnel, public health personnel, social worker, superintendent, principal, teacher or other instructional personnel, school attendance officer, school bus driver, district attorney, legal assistant to a district attorney, county prosecutor, municipal prosecutor, court reporter employed by a court, court administrator, clerk or deputy clerk of the court, or public defender is acting within the scope of his duty, office or employment, or (b) upon a legislator while the Legislature is in regular or extraordinary session or while otherwise acting within the scope of his duty, office or employment, shall be punished by a fine of not more than Five Thousand Dollars (\$5,000.00) or by imprisonment for not more than thirty (30) years, or both.

Department of Corrections. (R. pp. 45-47).<sup>4</sup> Being aggrieved from the convictions and sentences, Appellant filed Notice of Appeal on March 6, 2009 and this appeal is proceeding accordingly.

## VI.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The Appellant was denied effective assistance of counsel in violation of his Sixth Amendment Right under the Constitution of the United States and the Constitution of the State of Mississippi. Appellant was represented at trial by Honorable Allen Shackelford, an attorney of Clarksdale, Mississippi. The record demonstrates numerous inconsistencies, deficiencies, and gross violations in the representation of Appellant during the pretrial proceedings, trial proceedings, and sentencing proceedings. Defense counsel never objected to the sentence of life without parole under an indictment which failed to meet the requirements of capital murder; defense counsel never objected to the trial court's treatment of such indictment and never raised the issue of double jeopardy. It is Appellants assertion that it was counsels responsibility to adequately investigate, to raise those issues set out in this brief, and to file a motion for new trial under appropriate claims where the jury returned a verdict of guilty on each count of the indictment. Thus, the case against the Appellant hinged on the testimony of the States purported experts. This critical errors committed by counsel resulted in a great prejudice to the Appellant, resulting in his convictions and sentence of life imprisonment without any possibility of parole.

Appellant asserts that his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of Counsel was violated because his attorney failed to render adequate and competence. Defense counsel never presented to the Court that capital murder was not alleged in the indictment and that a sentence of life without parole was not applicable. Moreover, defense counsel never pointed out to the trial court that applying a sentence of life without parole, which would only be a punishment applicable to capital murder, would be an illegal sentence and would create a double jeopardy issue where Appellant was also charged, by separate count, with possession of a firearm on school property. Additionally, defense counsel never raised a viable claim of competency which was available to the defendant and never presented the issue to the trial judge.

**APPELLANT WAS DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH AMENDMENT TO THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES AND THE CONSTITUTION OF STATE OF MISSISSIPPI.**

**ISSUE ONE**

**ARGUMENT**

**VIII.**

Other facts will be stated throughout the briefing of the claims presented herein.

deliberated nor determined sentence in this case.

parole being the applicable punishment in the event of a finding of guilty. The trial jury never

The indictment did not charge capital murder and made no allegation or notice of life without

Appellant was represented at trial by Honorable Allen Shackelford of Clarksdale, Mississippi.

charging him with possession of a firearm on school property, murder, and aggravated assault.

Fernando Parker was indicted on November 30, 2004 in a multiple count indictment

**STATEMENT OF FACTS**

**VII.**

A claim for ineffective assistance of counsel is judged by the standard set forth in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1984) and adopted by Mississippi Supreme Court in Stringer v. State, 454 So.2d 468 (Miss. 1984). The two inquiries which must be made under the Strickland standard are "(1) whether counsel's performance was deficient, and, if so (2) whether the deficient performance was prejudicial to the defendant in the sense that our confidence in the correctness of the outcome is undermined." Neal v. State, 525 So.2d 1279, 1281 (Miss. 1987) (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1984)). Counsel's representation is deficient if the errors are so serious that counsel was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S., at 687, The deficient performance is prejudicial to the defendant if counsel's errors are so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial. Id. When applying the Strickland standard, there is a string presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689; Schmitt v. State, 560 So.2d 148, 154 (Miss. 1990). "To overcome this presumption, (t)he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different, Schmitt, 550 So.2d at 154 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694; Nicolaou v. State 612 So.2d 1080; 1086 (Miss. 1992). The defendant has the burden to satisfy both prongs of the test. Edwards v. State, 615 So.2d 590, 596 (Miss. 1993). If either part of the test, deficient performance or prejudice, is not satisfied then the claim must fail.

In the present case, the Appellant asserts that his attorney failed to defend him against the double jeopardy actions of the trial court and failed to defend when the trial court imposed a sentence of life without parole where there was no authority to impose such sentence under the

charges of the indictment filed in this case.<sup>5</sup> First, Appellant would point out that the deficiency of defense counsel, Shackelford, resulting in the greatest prejudice was his failure to preserve the claims here by filing a motion for new trial or objection to the imposition of the sentence imposed by the trial court.

In Jackson v. State, 815 So. 2d 1196 (Miss. 2002), the Supreme Court held the following in regards to ineffective assistance of counsel:

Our standard of review for a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is a two-part test: the defendant must prove, under the totality of the circumstances, that (1) his attorney's performance was deficient and (2) the deficiency deprived the defendant of a fair trial. Hiter v. State, 660 So.2d 961, 965 (Miss.1995). This review is highly deferential to the attorney, with a strong presumption that the attorney's conduct fell within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance. Id. at 965. With respect to the overall performance of the attorney, "counsel's choice of whether or not to file certain motions, call witnesses, ask certain questions, or make certain objections fall within the ambit of trial strategy" and cannot give rise to an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Cole v. State, 666 So.2d 767, 777 (Miss.1995).

Anyone claiming ineffective assistance of counsel has the burden of proving, not only that counsel's performance was deficient but also that he was prejudiced thereby. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Additionally, the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for his attorney's errors, he would have received a different result in the trial court. Nicolaou v. State, 612 So.2d 1080, 1086 (Miss.1992). Finally, the court must then determine whether counsel's performance was both deficient and prejudicial based upon the totality of the circumstances. Carney v. State, 525 So.2d 776, 780 (Miss.1988).

Again, in the instant case now before this Court, Appellant Parker would assert that there is absolutely no question that his attorney was deficient. As a matter of law, the Court had no authority to impose a sentence of life without parole for a charge and conviction of simple murder. The first prong of the test outlined in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 688, 687 (1984), is readily satisfied. This Court should find that Appellant was provided with ineffective assistance of counsel.

---

<sup>5</sup> The indictment only charged Appellant wit murder and not capital murder. (C.P. 3-4)

In Ward v. State, 708 So.2d 11 (Miss. 1998) (96-CA-00067), the Supreme Court held the following:

Effective assistance of counsel contemplates counsel's familiarity with the law that controls his client's case. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2065, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) (noting that counsel has a duty to bring to bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial reliable); see also Herring v. Estelle, 491 F.2d 125, 128 (5th Cir.1974) (stating that a lawyer who is not familiar with the facts and law relevant to the client's case cannot meet the constitutionally required level of effective assistance of counsel in the course of entering a guilty plea as analyzed under a test identical to the first prong of the Strickland analysis); Leatherwood v. State, 473 So.2d 964, 969 (Miss.1985) (explaining that the basic duties of criminal defense attorneys include the duty to advocate the defendant's case; remanding for consideration of claim of ineffectiveness where the defendant alleged that his attorney did not know the relevant law).

To successfully claim ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant must meet the two-prong test set forth in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668,687 (1984). This test has also been recognized and adopted by the Mississippi Supreme Court. Alexander v. State, 605 So.2d 1170, 1173 (Miss. 1992); Knight v. State, 577 So.2d 840, 841 (Miss. 1991); Barnes v. State, 577 So.2d 840,841 (Miss. 1991); McQuarter v. State, 574 So.2d 685, 687 (Miss. 1990); Waldrop v. State, 506 So.2d 273, 275 (Miss.1987), aff'd after remand, 544 So.2d 834 (Miss. 1989); Stringer v. State, 454 So.2d 468, 476 (Miss. 1984), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1230 (1985).

The Mississippi Supreme Court visited this issue in the decision of Smith v. State, 631 So.2d 778, 782 (Miss. 1984). The Strickland test requires a showing of (1) deficiency of counsel's performance which is, (2) sufficient to constitute prejudice to the defense. Id. 506 So.2d at 687. The burden to demonstrate the two prongs is on the defendant. Id. Leatherwood v. State, 473 So.2d 964, 968 (Miss. 1994), reversed in part, affirmed in part, 539 So.2d 1378 (Miss. 1989), and he faces a strong rebuttable presumption that counsel's performance falls within the broad spectrum of reasonable professional assistance. McQuarter, 574 So.2d at 687; Waldrop, 506 So.2d at 275; Gillard v. State, 462 So.2d 710, 714 (Miss. 1985).

The defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that for his attorney's errors, defendant would have received a different result. Nicolaou v. State, 612 So.2d 1080, 1086 (Miss. 1992); Ahmad v. State, 603 So.2d 843, 848 (Miss. 1992).

In Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 688, 687 (1984), the United States Supreme Court held as follows:

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