IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

FERNANDO MARTINEZ PARKER

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-0409

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: DEIRDRE MCCRORY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Parker has not shown that his trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective. First, he has not sustained his burden of showing that counsel's performance was so deplorable as to have required the trial judge to declare a mistrial *sua sponte*. Furthermore, he cannot establish unprofessional lapses or prejudice with respect to counsel's failure to make arguments which have no merit.

Furthermore, Parker's sentence of life without parole upon his conviction of murder was lawful. His second proposition lacks merit.

Additionally, the state submits the verdict is supported by sufficient— indeed, overwhelming— evidence. The trial court properly denied the motion for directed verdict.

Moreover, Parker cannot place the trial court in error for failing to order a competency hearing. He has failed to show that the record contains any evidence which would have required the court to do so on its on motion.

Next, the state contends Parker's double jeopardy argument is without merit inasmuch as it does not satisfy the test set out under *Blockburger*, infra. His fifth proposition should be rejected.

Finally, Parker's invocation of the cumulative error doctrine is procedurally and substantively without merit.

PROPOSITION ONE:

PARKER HAS NOT SHOWN THAT HIS TRIAL COUNSEL WAS CONSTITUTIONALLY INEFFECTIVE

Parker argues first that he was denied his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel at trial. He faces formidable hurdles, summarized follows:

The Mississippi Supreme Court has adopted the two-pronged test set forth in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) in determining whether a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel should prevail. . . . Rankin v. State, 636 So.2d 652, 656 (Miss.1994) enunciates the application of *Strickland*:

The Strickland test requires a showing that counsel's performance was sufficiently deficient to constitute prejudice to the defense.

The defendant has the burden of proof on both prongs. A strong but rebuttable presumption, that counsel's performance falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance, exists. . . . The defendant must show that but for his attorney's errors, there is a reasonable probability that he would have received a different result in the trial court. . .

Viewed from the totality of the circumstances, this Court must determine whether counsel's performance was both deficient and prejudicial. . . . Scrutiny of counsel's performance by this Court must be deferential. . . . If the defendant raises questions of fact regarding either deficiency of counsel's conduct or prejudice to the defense, he is entitled to an evidentiary hearing. . . . Where this Court determines defendant's counsel was constitutionally ineffective, the appropriate remedy is to reverse and remand for a new trial.

In short, a convicted defendant's claim that counsel's assistance was so defective as to require reversal has two components to comply with *Strickland*. First, he must show that counsel's performance was deficient, that he made errors so serious that he was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that counsel's errors deprived him of a fair trial with reliable results.

(emphasis added) *Colenburg v. State*, 735 So.2d 1099, 1102-03 (Miss.App.1999).

Because this point is raised on direct appeal, the defendant encounters an additional obstacle: the pertinent question

is not whether trial counsel was or was not ineffective but whether the trial judge, as a matter of law, had a duty to declare a mistrial or to order a new trial, sua sponte on the basis of trial counsel's performance. "Inadequacy of counsel" refers to representation that is so lacking in competence that the trial judge has the duty to correct it so as to prevent a mockery of justice. Parham v. State, 229 So.2d 582, 583 (Miss.1969). To reason otherwise would be to cast the appellate court in the role of a finder of fact; it does not sit to resolve factual inquiries. Malone v. State, 486 So.2d 367, 369 n. 2 (Miss.1986). Read [v. State, 430 So.2d 832 (Miss.1983)] clearly articulates that the method that the issue of a trial counsel's effectiveness can be susceptible to review by an appellate court requires that the counsel's effectiveness, or lack thereof, be discernable from the four corners of the trial record. This is to say that if this Court can determine from the record that counsel was ineffective, then it should have been apparent to the presiding judge, who had the duty, under Parham, to declare a mistrial or order a new trial sua sponte.

(emphasis added) Colenburg, 735 So.2d at 1102.

Accord, Clayton v. State, 946 So.2d 796 (Miss.796, 803 (Miss. App. 2006); Madison v. State, 923 So.2d 252 (Miss. App. 2006); Jenkins v. State, 912 So.2d 165, 173 (Miss. App. 2005); Walker v. State, 823 So.2d 557, 563 (Miss. App. 2002); Estes v. State, 782 So.2d

1244, 1248-49 (Miss. App. 2000).

Parker has not attempted to show that his trial counsel's performance was so deplorable as to require the court to declare a mistrial on its own motion. Because he has not sustained the particular burden he faces when raising this issue on direct appeal, the state submits his first proposition should be denied.

For the sake of argument, the state addresses the particular claims asserted by Parker. Specifically, he asserts that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the illegal sentence and to raise a double jeopardy issue. For the reasons set out under Propositions Two and Five of this brief, the state submits these issues have no merit and that, therefore, Parker can show neither an unprofessional lapse nor prejudice with respect to counsel's failure to raise them. As to the claim that counsel was ineffective in failing to raise a competency issue, the state counters that this issue cannot be resolved on this record. Accordingly, it should be rejected at this point.

For these reasons, Parker's first proposition should be denied.

PROPOSITION THREE:

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING PARKER'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT

Arguing that the trial court erred in denying his motion for directed verdict, Parker challenges the sufficiency of the evidence undergirding the verdict. See *May v. State*, 460 So.2d 778, 781 (Miss.1984). When defense counsel moved for a directed verdict, the prosecutor responded as follows:

Your Honor, in Count I for possession of a firearm on educational property, we had Ketrick Buck, Justin Moore and Jonathan Haney that all testified to seeing Mr. Parker with a weapon on campus. Cedric Burton, a campus police officer

testified to the address for Coahoma Community College.

In Count II for murder, also the testimony of Ketrick Buck, Justin Moore, and they saw Fernando Parker shoot and kill Jarvis Moore.

And in Count III, the aggravated assault charge, that they saw him shoot and injure Justin Moore.

(T.145-46)

The court denied the motion. (T.146)

To succeed in his challenge to this ruling, Parker must satisfy this stringent standard of review:

In order to succeed on a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence supporting his conviction, [the appellant] must prove that no "rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." [citations omitted] Challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence are viewed in the light most favorable to the State. ... Therefore, we "must accept as true all evidence consistent with the defendant's guilt, together with all favorable inferences that may be reasonably drawn from the evidence, and disregard the evidence favorable to the defendant." [citations omitted]. The trial court's decision is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. [citations omitted] "As long as 'reasonable fair-minded men in the exercise of impartial judgment might reach different conclusions on every element of the offense,' [then] the evidence will be deemed to have been sufficient."

(emphasis added) *Moffett v. State*, 3 So.2d 165, 174 (Miss. App. 2009)

We submit the prosecution put on overwhelming evidence, including eyewitness testimony and Parker's statement, that the defendant possessed a firearm on educational property and that he deliberately fired shots which killed Jarvis Moore and injured Justin Moore. Parker's challenge raises issues of weight of the evidence which is not relevant

to a discussion of the sufficiency of the evidence. See *May*, 460 So.2d at 781. Finally, the state points out that "[m]alice... may be proved or inferred from the use of a deadly weapon." *Wilson v. State*, 574 So.2d 1324, 1337 (Miss.1990), cited in *Page v. State*, 989 So.2d 887, 893 (Miss. App. 2007).

For these reasons, Parker's third proposition should be denied.

PROPOSITION TWO:

PARKER'S SENTENCE TO LIFE WITHOUT PAROLE UPON HIS CONVICTION OF MURDER IS LEGAL

Parker next contends his sentence of life without parole is illegal. The state counters that MISS. CODE ANN. § 47-7-3 (1972) (as amended) authorizes the sentence imposed by the trial court. ² This assignment of error lacks merit.

²That subsection is set out below:

No person shall be eligible for parole who is convicted or whose suspended sentence is revoked after June 30, 1995, except that an offender convicted of only nonviolent crimes after June 30, 1995, may be eligible for parole if the offender meets the requirements in subsection (1) and this paragraph. In addition to other requirements, if an offender is convicted of a drug or driving under the influence felony, the offender must complete a drug and alcohol rehabilitation program prior to parole or the offender may be required to complete a post-release drug and alcohol program as a condition of parole. For purposes of this paragraph, "nonviolent crime" means a felony other than homicide, robbery, manslaughter, sex crimes, arson, burglary of an occupied dwelling, aggravated assault, kidnapping, felonious abuse of vulnerable adults, felonies with enhanced penalties, the sale or manufacture of a controlled substance under the Uniform Controlled Substances Law, felony child abuse, or exploitation or any crime under Section 97-5-33 or Section 97-5-39(2) or 97-5-39(1)(b), 97-5-39(1)(c) or a violation of Section

PROPOSITION FOUR:

PARKER HAS NOT PLACED THE TRIAL COURT IN ERROR FOR FAILING TO ORDER A COMPETENCY HEARING

Parker contends additionally that the trial court committed reversible error in failing to order a competency hearing. At the outset, the state points out that the defense never requested such a hearing.

URCCC Rule 9.06 provides in pertinent part that

[i]f before or during trial the court, of its own motion or upon motion of an attorney, has reasonable ground to believe that the defendant is incompetent to stand trial, the court shall order the defendant to submit to a mental examination by some competent psychiatrist selected by the court in accordance with § 99-13-11 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972.

Implicitly acknowledging his failure to request this examination, Parker makes the cursory assertion that "[t]he trial testimony indicated that a question of competency of the defendant, at the time of the alleged crime, was an issue." The state responds initially that the question of competency to stand trial whether the defendant is competent at the time of trial, not at the time of the crime. See *Rodgers v. State*, 961 So.2d 637, 638 (Miss. App. 2008).

In any case, this issue is procedurally barred by Parker's failure to raise it below and by his failure to cite authority in support of his proposition. *Poindexter v. State*, 856 So.2d

^{63-11-30(5).} An offender convicted of a violation under Section 41-29-139(a), not exceeding the amounts specified under Section 41-29-139(b), may be eligible for parole. In addition, an offender incarcerated for committing the crime of possession of a controlled substance under the Uniform Controlled Substances Law after July 1, 1995, shall be eligible for parole.

296, 302 (Miss.2003). Furthermore, while Parker asserts that "the trial testimony indicated" a question of competency, he has failed to sustain his burden of citing to the record to support his argument and the parts of the record relied upon. *Jordan v. State*, 995 So.2d 94 (Miss.2008), citing *Conley v. State*, 790 So.2d 774, 784 (Miss.2001), and M.R.A.P. (28) (a) (6).

For these reasons, the state submits Parker's fourth proposition plainly lacks merit.

PROPOSITION FIVE:

PARKER'S DOUBLE JEOPARDY ARGUMENT HAS NO MERIT

Parker contends additionally that his right not to be twice put in jeopardy for the same offense has been violated inasmuch as "the charge in count one encompassed the charge in count II." (Brief for Appellant 28) Implicitly, he argues that he was improperly subjected to multiple punishments for the same offense.

The standard for analysis of this issue was set out recently as follows in Graves:

To determine whether double-jeopardy protections apply, we look to the "same-elements" test prescribed by the United States Supreme Court in *Blockburger v. United States*, 284 U.S. 299, 304, 52 S.Ct. 180, 76 L.Ed. 306 (1932). The *Blockburger* test instructs us to determine whether each offense contains an element not present in the other; if not, they are labeled the same offense for double-jeopardy purposes, and successive prosecutions and/or punishments are constitutionally barred. *Powell v. State*, 806 So.2d 1069, 1074 (Miss.2001).

³This argument is presented for the first time on appeal. However, in light of *Graves v. State*, 969 So.2d 845, 846-47 (Miss.2007), the state proceeds directly to a discussion of the merits.

The defendant in *Blockburger* was tried and convicted on two counts, the sale of a drug not in or from the original packaging and the sale of a drug without a written order, both charges arising from one specific drug sale. *Blockburger*, 284 U.S. at 301, 52 S.Ct. 180. Rejecting the defendant's claim that the two counts on which he was convicted constituted one offense, the Supreme Court stated:

The applicable rule is that where the same act or transaction constitutes a violation of two distinct statutory provisions, the test to be applied to determine whether there are two offenses or only one, is whether each provision requires proof of a fact which the other does not.

Id. at 304, 52 S.Ct. 180 (citations omitted).

The Court went on to say:

A single act may be an offense against two statutes; and if each statute requires proof of an additional fact which the other does not, an acquittal or conviction under either statute does not exempt the defendant from prosecution and punishment under the other.

Id.(citations omitted).

The Supreme Court affirmed the defendant's conviction, holding that, even though both sections were violated by one sale, two offenses were committed.

969 So.2d at 847.

As shown by the foregoing excerpt, a conviction withstands double jeopardy scrutiny if each offense contains an element not contained in the other. To establish the defendant's guilt of possession of a firearm on campus under Count I, the state was required to prove that Parker

did unlawfully,, willfully, and feloniously possess a firearm, towit: a pistol, [and] ...(2) said Defendant was a student in possession of the pistol while on the campus of Coahoma County Community College ...

(C.P.69)

To prove Parker guilty of murder under Count II, the state had to prove that he

did ulawfully, willfully, and with deliberate design to kill Jarvis Moore, ...shoot and kill Jarvis Moore with a pistol.

(C.P.69)

Obviously, each offense required proof of a fact that the other did not. To prove possession of a firearm on campus, the state was not required to establish that the defendant committed murder. To prove murder, the state was not required to show that the defendant possessed a firearm on campus. Thus, these offenses were not the same for double jeopardy purposes.⁴ *Graves*, 969 So.2d at 848. See also *Shook v. State*, 552 So.2d 841, 848-49 (Miss.1989). Parker's fifth proposition has no merit.

PROPOSITION SIX:

PARKER'S INVOCATION OF THE CUMULATIVE ERROR DOCTRINE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND SUBSTANTIVELY MERITLESS

Parker finally contends that the cumulative errors of the trial court mandate reversal of the judgment rendered against him. He did not present this argument below and may not raise it for the first time on appeal. *Maldonado v. State*, 796 So.2d 247, 260-61 (Miss.2001); *Gibson v. State*, 731 So.2d 1087, 1098 (Miss.1998). His sixth proposition is

⁴It matters not "that these two crimes took place at the same time" or "that the same evidence was used to convict" Parker "of both of these crimes." *Graves*, 969 So.2d at 848.

procedurally barred.

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